1981

Laverne Robertson, Darlene Olsen and Eldon M. Johnson v. Thora J. Campbell : Brief of Plaintiffs-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This was an action by three children of Marinus Johnson, deceased, against the fourth child, Thora J. Campbell, to set aside a Trust Agreement which was executed the same day as a Will, March 5, 1971, both of which documents, the Trust and the Will, favored Thora Campbell. This civil action to set aside the Trust was preceded by a will contest in the Third District Court, Probate No. 62967 which set aside the Will of March 5, 1971 in favor of a Will of May 5, 1969 which divided the estate equally among the four children. The probate decision was appealed by Thora J. Campbell, Case No. 15798, in which case briefs were deferred until conclusion of the trust litigation.

The Court is requested to consider appeals simultaneously. It is expected that Thora J. Campbell will file her brief as appellant from the probate proceedings contemporaneously with her brief as respondent herein.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek reversal of the judgment of dismissal of their Complaint to set aside the Trust Agreement by reason of undue influence and affirming the jury verdict and judgment for probate of this will of May 5, 1969 in Case No. 15798.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs appeal from a final order and judgment of the District Court for Salt Lake County, Utah, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., District Judge, dismissing with prejudice the Complaint of plaintiffs to set aside the Trust Agreement of March 5, 1971. Marinus Johnson, deceased, was the father of plaintiffs and defendant. Marinus made a will on May 5, 1969, wherein he left his estate to his four children equally, at which time he owned several hundred acres of land in Millard and Juab counties (Exhibit 47), a duplex and residence in Salt Lake County and substantial receivables from contracts of sale of land. In 1970 Thora Campbell made arrangements for Marinus to go to a firm of attorneys not known to Marinus but known to her and her husband, and execute a new will on January 19, 1971, wherein the beneficiaries' interests were changed to give his

second wife, Alta, \$500.00; his son Eldon \$2,500.00; the defendant all of the real and personal property in Juab County with machinery; and the residue, one-half to the defendant, one-fourth to LaVerne Robertson, and one-fourth to Darlene Olsen, his other daughter.

On March 5, 1971, Marinus executed another will with essentially the same bequests except that the will of March 5, 1971 incorporated a trust of even date with Thora Campbell as trustee to divide essentially as per the January 19, 1971 and March 5, 1971 wills.

A will contest in the Third Judicial District Court in Probate No. 62967 was tried before Honorable Bryant Croft sitting with a jury. The jury found the wills of January 19, 1971 and March 5, 1971 to be void by reason of undue influence by Thora Campbell and the Court entered judgment admitting the will of May 5, 1969 to probate. A substantial part of the assets had been transferred to Thora Campbell as trustee under the trust of March 5, 1971 and the Probate Court deferred appointing an administrator pending determination of the validity of the trust and the extent of assets available for probate.

A civil action was commenced by plaintiffs to set aside the trust of March 5, 1971 for reasons among others of undue influence exercised by Thora Campbell over the trust. The evidence was not disputed that the trust was developed as a part of and in furtherance of the January 19, 1971 and March 5,

1971 wills and was executed during the same one-half hour conference as the will of March 5, 1971 which was found previously to have been void because of undue influence of Thora Campbell. In this civil action the trial court granted a motion of the defendant to dismiss which was made at the close of plaintiffs' case and the court indicated there would be no findings of fact (R-320). Subsequently, without prior notice to plaintiffs, the Court signed "Findings of Fact" prepared by defendant's counsel. The relevant "findings" (which appear to be conclusions of law) are:

- "4. Defendant did not stand in a fiduciary capacity as to Marinus Johnson.
5. There was nothing inherently unfair in the creation and terms of the subject trust agreement and conveyances made in connection therewith.:

The plaintiffs' evidence in the civil action to set aside the trust of March 5, 1971 was essentially the same as that presented to the jury and court in Probate No. 62967 wherein the wills of January 19, 1971 and March 5, 1971 were found void for undue influence.

We review herein only the record of the civil action at this time.

Thora J. Campbell was called by plaintiffs as an adverse witness and testified that she was the daughter of Marinus Johnson. That Marinus was born in 1896 and died on December 29, 1975 at the age of 79 years; that the children surviving him in order of age were LaVerne, Thora, Eldon and

Darlene (R-156); that her mother, Katie, died on July 27, 1968, and Marinus married Alta Jeffs November 7, 1968 (R-175) whom he continued to live with until a few months before his death; that the will of May 5, 1969 (Exhibit 16) was written by Attorney Fred L. Finlanson and provided for equal division of his estate among his four children and named Thora as executrix with Tracy Collins Trust Company as alternate (R-177); and that Thora had not seen the will of May 5, 1969 until the summer of 1970 when her father went to Fabian & Clendenin. Thora said he went to Fabian & Clendenin because, "He wanted to get his stuff taken care of so his burdens would be lightened", although he had not known anyone at Fabian & Clendenin before this (R-179). She said that Marinus had employed Fred Finlanson since 1953; that her husband introduced Marinus to Fabian & Clendenin (R-180), the husband having known Fabian & Clendenin through his employment with KALL radio. Thora denied going to Fabian & Clendenin with her father until the signing of a will of January 19, 1971 or discussing with them the terms of the wills of January 19, 1971, March 5, 1971 or the trust of March 5, 1971 (R-183). Since Thora's testimony is in direct contrast with that of Attorneys Melling and Vogel on the matters relating to her involvement in preparation of the wills and trust, we quote her testimony from R-183:

Q Prior to January 19, 1971, you did not discuss with any attorneys at Fabian and Clendenin the terms of the will?

A No, sir.

Q Did you discuss with them the terms of the will of March 5, 1971 at any time prior to March 5, 1971?

A No, sir.

Q Did you discuss with them the terms of the trust of March 5, 1971 at any time before March 5, 1971?

A No, sir.

Q Did you have any discussion with the attorneys who prepared the will of January 19, 1971 or March 5, 1971 or the trust of March 5, 1971 prior to the time that they were prepared?

A No, sir.

Q Did you have correspondence with any of those attorneys with respect to the terms of those wills or the trust?

THE COURT: The terms of the same.

A Phone calls mostly. They would call to have me bring in certain descriptions, tax notices.

Q But, you didn't discuss with them the contents of any of those documents?

A No, sir.

Q You did not discuss with them the divisions of the estate that your father anticipated making in connection with any of the documents, January 19, 1971, March 5, 1971 or the March 5, 1971 trust?

A No, sir.

Then at line 10, R-192:

A Dad went to the attorneys himself from time to time.

Q The attorneys themselves discussing with your father from time to time?

A Yes.

Paragraph 1 of the Trust Agreement (Exhibit 1) of March 5, 1971 recites that the grantor transfers and delivers to the trustee the property "listed in the schedule attached hereto". Mrs. Campbell testified as follows with respect to this schedule:
(R-193)

Q Mrs. Campbell, Exhibit 1, the trust agreement of the 5th of March says that there is a property listed in the schedule attached hereto. Now, was there any schedule attached to Exhibit 1?

A No, sir.

Q Has there ever been a schedule attached to Exhibit 1 so far as you know?

A Yes.

Q Where is that schedule?

A It was attached in 1976 with all the list of properties.

Q So until 1976 there was no Exhibit A attached - no schedule attached to Exhibit 1, the trust agreement?

A That is right.

Q Now, in 1976 you say there was a schedule attached?

A Yes, sir.

Q That is after your dad died?

A Yes.

Q And who prepared that schedule?

A Fabian and Clendenin mailed it to me. I typed it verbatim because I had to report to my sisters and brother because being the trustee I carried on with my necessary duties.

Q Than your father never saw that schedule during his lifetime?

A No, sir.

Attorney William Vogel, formerly of Fabian & Clendenin, testified that in 1970 he had been with the firm for ten years and for the first time met Marinus. Since the trust of March 5, 1971 was based upon the dispositions established in the will of January 19, 1971, prepared by Mr. Vogel, we quote excerpts of his testimony in contrast to the testimony of Thora Campbell:
(R-206 L-7 to R-207 L-19)

Q In connection with your occupation did you have

- an occasion to meet Marinus Johnson?
- A Yes, I did.
- Q Would you state when you first met him?
- A From my file, the answer is August 31, 1970.
- Q And where did you meet him?
- A In my office.
- Q Was anybody else with him at the time?
- A Thora Campbell was and possibly Ernest Campbell, I am not sure.
- Q Did you know Thora Campbell or Ernest Campbell prior to that date?
- A I knew Ernest Campbell prior to that date.
- Q How did you know him?
- A He was an accountant for KALL Radio and I had done work for KALL Radio and had worked with him in connection with KALL Radio.
- Q Had you known Marinus Johnson before that date?
- A I had not.
- Q What was the purpose of your meeting on that date?
- A It was a conference to talk about estate planning for Mr. Johnson.
- Q And at that time did you have a discussion with Mr. Johnson?
- A Yes.
- Q Did you have a discussion with anybody else relative to his estate planning?
- A Well, Thora Campbell had things to say.
- Q Did she participate in the discussion?
- A I think she did. She was familiar with a number of his properties and -
- Q Can you state whether or not she did more talking than Mr. Johnson on that occasion?
- A I suspect that she did more, yes.
- Q And at that time what was discussed?
- A The nature of his properties, the family situation, who the children were, grandchildren and his marital status and then what he wanted to do with his

property on his death.

- Q Did you make any memoranda at the time to indicate what you were told with respect thereto?
- A No formal memorandum. I just have notes of the conference and then I have a letter forwarding a draft of a trust agreement.

Mr. Vogel identified Exhibit 13, a copy of which is included in the appendix herein, which in Vogel's handwriting notes that when Mr. Johnson dies (he's 74); \$2,500.00 to Marinus Eldon Johnson, San Francisco; remainder 1/3 to LaVerne Robertson, Levittown, Penna.; Darlene Olsen, Salt Lake City; Thora Campbell, SLC; trustee pays trustor's expenses for his life; and shows that Eldon has no children, LaVerne 5, Darlene 5 and Thora 7, totaling 17 grandchildren. When asked if he used the Exhibit 13 memorandum in connection with the documents he prepared, he answered that his recollection was based on his letter of September 4, 1970, Exhibit 14 which he forwarded to Thora along with a proposed living trust agreement (R-208 209). Exhibit 14 was Vogel's letter to Thora as follows:

September 4, 1970

Mrs. Ernest Campbell
1360 Yale Avenue
Salt Lake City, Utah

Dear Mrs. Campbell:

Enclosed is a proposed trust agreement. Note that for simplicity and because I wanted a complete document for you to see, I provided for equal distribution to you and your two sisters. If your father decides on the 7/17, 5/17, 5/17 proportion, or some other, I can make the necessary changes.

Please let me know if the trust agreement requires any changes. Even after we settle on the form of the trust agreement and create the trust there will be

considerable work in conveying the various properties to the trust.

Also please obtain for me a copy of your father's antenuptial agreement with his present wife.

Very truly yours,

William Vogel

WV:dhb
Enclosure

The next items in Vogel's file were letters dated December 23, 1970, Exhibit 11, addressed to Marinus Johnson in care of Thora, and Exhibit 15, a letter to Thora.

Exhibit 11 to Marinus in care of Thora at her address was a very brief note as follows:

December 23, 1970

Mr. Marinus Johnson
c/o Mrs. E. W. Campbell
1360 Yale Avenue
Salt Lake City, Utah

Dear Mr. Johnson:

I enclosed a copy of a new will for you. I have sent the original to your daughter, Thora.

Please call me after you have read the proposed new will.

Very truly yours,

William Vogel

WV:dhb
Enclosure

Whereas, the letter to Thora was lengthy and suggested that while ordinarily he would arrange to have the will signed and witnessed in his office, yet in this case he preferred that another place and other witnesses be used to avoid a will contest. Exhibit 15 is as follows:

December 23, 1970

Mrs. E. W. Campbell
1360 Yale Avenue
Salt Lake City, Utah

Dear Thora:

I have sent to your father a copy of a new will for him and I enclose herewith the original.

I suggest that you have two neighbors who know your father well serve as witnesses to his signing of the original will. Ordinarily we would arrange to have the will signed and witnessed in our office. However, in this case, I would prefer that the witnesses be people who know him well and could testify as to his mental alertness and understanding. The witnesses cannot be related to your father or to you.

The signing and witnessing of the will should be carried out in a formal ceremony exactly as described in the paragraph immediately preceding the lines for signatures and addresses of the two witnesses.

The above instructions must be carefully carried out if your father's wishes, as described in the new will, are to have a good chance of being put into effect against the possible claims of your brother and sisters after your father's death that this new will is invalid.

Please call me about this new will.

Very truly yours,

William Vogel

WV:dhb
Enclosure

Vogel said he sent the original will to Thora and a copy to Marinus with his letter of December 23, 1970, but that it was later signed in his office on January 19, 1971 (R-210). As to any conversation with Marinus at the time of signing the will, Vogel testified:

Q Now, did you have any conference with Mr. Johnson at that time?

A I don't remember details but, I am sure I did. Obviously he was the testator.

Q In one of those letters that you sent to Thora, you refer to a five-seventeenths, five-seventeenths, seven-seventeenths division. Whose suggestion was that?

A I don't remember specifically. That was in the first conference, August 31, 1970 and it is obvious from my notes that this was based upon the number of grandchildren of Marinus Johnson and that was one idea that was discussed.

THE COURT: That is the number of grandchildren of the three daughters mentioned therein?

A Yes.

THE COURT: I have no indication or idea of the status of the son but, that relates only to the granddaughters, grandchildren of his daughters?

A Yes.

Q Now, do you remember who gave you the information with respect to the five-seventeenths, five-seventeenths, seven-seventeenths?

A I don't remember whether it was Marinus or Thora.

Q Do you remember who did most of the talking on the occasions that you talked to them?

A I indicated earlier I think Thora did. (R-211)

The will of January 19, 1971, was marked Exhibit 49 and was received by the Court for the limited purpose of showing the distribution of the estate which the Court noted was exactly the same as the March 5, 1971 will (R-213).

Vogel said he has prepared and forwarded a proposed trust agreement on September 4, 1970, and that his associate, Mr. Melling used the draft in preparing the trust of March 5, 1971 (R-214), however, the trust of March 5, 1971 followed the distribution set forth in the will of January 19, 1971 which favored Thora rather than the proposed distribution in the trust.

of September 4, 1970 which would have given each of the three girls one-third (R-220). As to the reason for the change in distribution, Vogel had no knowledge and testified:

Q Are you aware there were changes in the distribution between the March 5 trust agreement and the draft agreement that you sent?

A I am aware, yes. When I became aware I am not sure.

Q All right. Did you have anything to do with making those changes?

A The changes were made in the January 19, 1971 will so sometime between September of 1970 and January of 1971 that decision was made.

Q All right. Now, do you have any recollection as to why or how that decision was made?

A I don't have any recollection and I don't find anything in the file to help me recall. (R-220)

Another indication of how little Vogel knew or remembered about Marinus is his confusion as to whether Marinus was living with his wife, Alta in 1970. (Commencing at R-225).

Q Now, Mr. Vogel, in your letter of September 4, you wrote to Mrs. Campbell. Did you also write to Mr. Johnson on that date?

A From the file, no. I was under the impression that he lived in the Campbell's house. I may have been wrong but, that was my impression.

Q Did you know he was married?

A I knew he was married but, somewhere in my recollection he might have been separated, I don't recall for sure.

Q Well, wouldn't it be part of your inquiry to determine what arrangements he had made for his wife?

A There was an antenuptial agreement that is referred to in my letter of September 4 so I knew he made arrangements in that form.

Q What would have given you the impression he was living with Thora and not living with his wife?

- A I had that impression somewhere.
- Q You don't know now whether that is true or not?
- A I don't know whether it is true.
- Q And if he were living there and you got the information from him and he was dividing as you said what should be done, why didn't you address this letter of September 4 to him instead of her?
- A I don't have the answer for that except I thought they were living at the same address, 1360 Yale Avenue as indicated. Later on I sent a letter to Thora and a letter to Marinus Johnson both at that address.
- Q But, the subsequent letter in December you wrote him about two lines and you wrote her a long letter?
- A That is right.
- Q Would there be any reason why you were corresponding and detailing these things to Thora and not to Johnson?
- A One reason that would come to mind is that she knew the details of these numerous real properties and they were in a messy state.
- Q And by addressing a letter to her did you expect she could communicate with him and then communicate back to you?
- A Yes, on the assumption they lived in the same house. . . (R-226)
- Q Do you have any recollection as to whether or not you got correspondence or any communication back from her in response to your September 4 letter?
- A I have nothing in the file and I do not recall how the - how or when the decision was made by which the September 4 indefinite status was changed to the January 19, 1971 definite distribution.
- Q Do you remember any telephone calls from Marinus Johnson to you?
- A I don't remember any. There might have been.
- Q Do you recall telephone calls from Thora Campbell to you?

- A Yes, I had calls from Thora Campbell.
- Q The information which you would have received in response to your September 4 letter, if you have nothing in the file, can you indicate how you would have gotten a response to your correspondence?
- A Would you repeat the question?
- Q Yes. You said that you sent the letter of September 4 to Thora and that you got a response subsequently. You didn't get any telephone calls from Marinus and I am asking you if you can remember what response she would have received that would have prompted the division you made in the January 19 will?
- A I testified I don't recall any telephone calls from Marinus Johnson. It is possible I may have had one but, I rather doubt it. Beyond that I don't know how, when or who transmitted it to me, the direction to make in this January 1971 will the one-half, one-quarter, one-quarter distribution. . . (R-227)
- Q Now, in response to Ms. Wassermann's question, you indicated that whenever there was a change in distribution you would be more cautious, something to that effect?
- A Yes.
- Q Now, would you have made some notations under those circumstances from the decedent with respect to his direction rather than a beneficiary with respect thereto?
- A I have no notes that would be more definite than what I have testified to.
- Q There was no input from any other children of Marinus Johnson, was there?
- A That is correct.

MR. FADEL: I think that is all. (R-228)

Mr. Vogel's last correspondence was a letter addressed to Thora, Exhibit 51, dated September 24, 1975, whereby he transmitted a document entitled "Schedule to Trust Agreement dated

March 5, 1971" instructing Thora to attach the original to the original trust document. He said the schedule was prepared sometime in September 1975 (R-230) and he did not know whether Marinus ever saw the schedule or agreed that it become a part of the trust (R-231). Marinus died December 29, 1975.

Mr. Vogel's associate, Mr. George D. Melling, Jr., testified that in 1971 he was beginning to specialize in property law and that Vogel had referred the Johnson matter to him to prepare the trust. Melling had never met Marinus before 1971, and saw him "at the most" one time before the signing of the trust of March 5, 1971, and said he may have seen Thora Campbell several times before March 5, 1971 (R-236). Melling said he was asked by Vogel to prepare a trust and a will to incorporate the trust, and when asked if he made any determination as to distribution among beneficiaries, replied:

"I really was not. I never had a planning conference with our client. Really it was following Mr. Vogel's instructions as to how the distributions were to be made." (R-237)

and that he was depending upon the will of January 19, 1971, and incorporated the same distribution in the will of March 5, 1971 and the trust of the same date.

Melling saw Marinus on March 5, 1971 for one-half hour, during which time Marinus signed a three-page will (R-239) the trust agreement of eight pages and some deeds (R-242). Present at the time of signing were Marinus, Thora, a secretary and Melling at Melling's office (R-240). He had no direct

recollection of what was discussed and it seemed to be "a very ordinary meeting". Then he answered questions as follows:

- Q Can you state whether or not Mr. Johnson appeared to you to be quiet or talkative at that meeting?
- A My recollection is that he was rather quiet.
- Q Do you recall as between Thora and Marinus Johnson who did most of the talking?
- A My recollection is that Thora did most of the talking (R-241).

He had no recollection of discussing with Marinus which properties were included in the deeds to the trust (R-244), nor specifically discussing matters such as power of trustee, compensation and revocation, apart from it being a matter of practice to discuss such things (R-250).

Melling said he never talked to Marinus alone when Thora was not present, and he assumed Vogel had already done so with respect to the unequal distribution R-251). His final testimony on the question of Thora's influence is as follows:

- Q Mr. Melling, you said that there was nothing to believe that Thora was influencing him. How do you tell whether a beneficiary is influencing a testator?
- A Intuition.
- Q What would it take to - for you to convince you that there was undue influence?
- A I am not sure I know how to respond to that. I am not a psychologist. It would just be something that would tend to make me believe that. (R-251)

Thora Campbell was recalled and when asked if her father at any time told her why he wanted his property in trust,

- 18
- A He had been talking about it for 15 or 20 years before 1970 and 1971.
- Q Do you recall his ever having told you why he wanted it in trust?
- A Because of a few lawsuits that he had had prior to those dates (R-269).

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