1981

Laverne Robertson, Darlene Olsen and Eldon M. Johnson v. Thora J. Campbell : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

As Judge Baldwin stated in granting defendant's Motion to Dismiss, plaintiff did not present "one iota" of evidence

to substantiate their case. As trier of fact in an equitable action, Judge Baldwin's decision may be reversed only if the evidence strongly preponderates against it or if he abused his discretion. Plaintiffs failed to make out a prima facie case, as the presumption that might have aided them was obliterated by the testimony of their own witnesses.

The decision in a prior case dealing with related will documents is not res judicata of the issues presented to the trial court in the instant action. Furthermore, examination of the record in both actions makes it patently clear that Judge Baldwin's decision was correct and should be affirmed.

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION
MUST BE AFFIRMED UNLESS
MANIFESTLY IN ERROR

The issues tried in this action were equitable in nature. Article VIII, §9 of the Constitution of the State of Utah grants this Court the power to review questions of fact and law in equity actions. That standard of review has been defined and refined by this Court in several cases. The Court has consistently held that, while review may be made of the factual record below, the trial court's findings of fact and decisions must be given tremendous weight. Thus, it has variously been held that the trial court's findings must stand unless the evidence so clearly preponderates against them that

the result constitutes a manifest injustice, Hatch v. Bastian, 567 P.2d 1100 (Utah 1977), or the evidence clearly preponderates against the lower court's findings, Porto v. Nicolo, 495 P.2d 811 (Utah 1972), or the findings are clearly erroneous, Nunley v. Walker, 369 P.2d 117 (Utah 1962). This Court has also stated that in reviewing the lower court's decision, it must be kept in mind that the trial judge had the advantage of hearing and seeing the witnesses. Barker v. Dunham, 342 P.2d 867 (Utah 1959).

II. ANY PRESUMPTION OF UNFAIRNESS OR
UNDUE INFLUENCE WAS CONTRADICTED
AND ELIMINATED BY PLAINTIFFS'
OWN EVIDENCE

Plaintiffs have placed enormous reliance upon a presumption used in the case of Johnson v. Johnson, 337 P.2d 420 (Utah 1959) to establish their prime facie case of undue influence. The rule as stated therein is that when a confidential relationship is established and a gift or conveyance is made to the party in a superior position, a presumption arises that the transaction was unfair. Id. at 422. Plaintiffs argue that they established the presumption by introducing evidence of dealings between Marinus Johnson and his daughter Thora, and that the burden of persuasion shifted to the defendant to overcome the presumption.

Assuming for the purposes of argument that the presumption of unfairness indeed arose in the course of plaintiffs'

case, the issue upon appeal becomes whether that presumption mandated presentation of evidence by the defendant. The answer is clearly no. The testimony of plaintiffs' own witnesses totally contradicted any presumption that might have arisen. As such, the presumption disappeared and plaintiffs were left without any basis for a prima facie case.

As this Court has explained in the past, a presumption of the type discussed in the Johnson case is one of law. Presumptions of law are rebuttable, and disappear from the case when evidence to contradict them, sufficient to amount to some evidence, is presented. Wyatt v. Baughman, 239 P.2d 193 (Utah 1951). (Emphasis the Court's).

It may be the usual case that rebuttal testimony comes from the case put on by the party seeking to rebut the presumption. If the contradictory testimony comes from the witnesses called on behalf of the party who seeks to rely on the presumption, the presumption will be eliminated. In The Colorado & Utah Coal Company, 369 P.2d 796 (Colo. 1962), the Supreme Court stated, citing prior California decisions:

No party can claim the right of a presumption against his own admission under oath. [Cite omitted]. The force of a presumption is exhausted when a fact which is wholly irreconcilable with it is proved by the uncontradicted testimony of the party relying on it . . .

Id. at 799.

In Tice v. Kaiser Co., Inc., 226 P.2d 624 (Cal. App. 1955), the plaintiff sought to rely upon a presumption that the deceased had exercised due care. The presumption had arisen during the presentation of the case, but the plaintiff went on and called as witnesses the workmen who had seen the subject accident and who testified as to the conduct of the deceased. The California court ruled that the presumption had disappeared:

In order to be entitled to such a presumption, the party relying upon it must first establish a sphere or field within which the presumption may operate. . . . The disputable presumption that a decedent exercises due care is dispelled, has no probative value, and disappears from the case when the litigant relying upon the presumption introduces evidence contrary to the fact presumed.

Id. at 629.

As will be discussed infra, while plaintiffs' evidence in this instant case may have given rise to the presumption (i.e. Thora Campbell was a business advisor to her father and received more property than her siblings), there was not one shred of evidence to support a claim of fraud, undue influence, or incompetence. Quite to the contrary, plaintiffs' own witnesses produced convincing and consistent evidence that Marinus Johnson knew exactly what he was doing when he executed his trust. Judge Baldwin had no reason to require defendant to put on testimony that would only be duplicative and cumulative of that presented by plaintiffs. The presumption of unfairness had long since been

obliterated by plaintiffs' witnesses, and with its demise went plaintiffs' prima facie case.

III. THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE RULING OF THE COURT

Plaintiffs called six witnesses at trial. There was not one bit of evidence that Marinus Johnson was incompetent either in 1971 or thereafter until his death. There was not one bit of evidence that the distribution in his trust was the result of fraud or undue influence. There was not one bit of evidence to contradict the fact that Marinus Johnson knew exactly what he was doing when he left his property in an unequal distribution.

In contrast to the absolute lack of evidence to support plaintiffs' case, the trial court heard the following affirmative testimony supporting the validity of the trust:

William Vogel, an estate specialist with Fabian & Clendenin, testified that he first met Marinus Johnson in August, 1970. Mr. Johnson was accompanied by Thora Campbell. (Incidentally, plaintiffs are in error in their brief wherein they claim Mrs. Campbell denied meeting Vogel. See R. 183). At that conference, several possibilities for distribution of the property were discussed. Plaintiffs infer that Mrs. Campbell was railroading the process because she was doing a lot of the talking at the meeting. What plaintiffs neglect to tell this Court is that Mr. Vogel testified her comments were in response

to inquiries into the details of Mr. Johnson's properties.
[R. 216 and 226].

Mr. Vogel sent out a draft trust that provided for equal distribution to the three sisters. In their brief, plaintiffs would leave this Court with the erroneous impression that the distribution had been decided upon by Mr. Johnson. Again plaintiffs ignore the testimony of Mr. Vogel: the distribution in the draft was an arbitrary election by Vogel made only for the purpose of getting a draft instrument to Mr. Johnson. [R. 218].

Even more seriously misleading is plaintiffs' total failure to refer to Mr. Vogel's testimony as to the capacity of Mr. Johnson and the circumstances surrounding the execution of the trust. First, Mr. Vogel testified that he would take particular care when doing an estate for an elderly person. [R. 220]. He was fully satisfied that Marinus Johnson understood what he was doing. [R. 221]. Further, he increased his usual precautions in light of the unequal distribution of the estate. [R. 221]. Finally, he testified [R.222]:

Q All right. Was there anything that was going on, anything that you observed that led you to believe or suspect that Marinus Johnson was not doing what he wanted to do but, rather was being coerced or was being unduly influenced by Thora Campbell?

A There is nothing that led me to suspect

that Thora Campbell was unduly influencing him.

Mr. Vogel's partner George D. Melling, Jr. testified.

Mr. Melling took over the job of finishing the trust agreement. Plaintiffs ignore Mr. Melling's testimony with respect to the claims at issue in the suit. At the time the trust was executed, Mr. Melling went over the trust page by page with Mr. Johnson. [R. 241]. The trust was revocable, and that provision was pointed out. [R. 245]. Particularly in light of the unequal distribution under the trust, Mr. Melling was sure the terms of the trust were carefully discussed. [R. 246-247]. Like Mr. Vogel, Mr. Melling testified that Marinus Johnson was mentally competent to execute the trust, and that there was no evidence of undue influence. [R. 247].

Alta Johnson had no knowledge of the trust during Mr. Johnson's lifetime. Her only testimony pertinent to the creation of the trust related to the physical and mental condition of Mr. Johnson. She testified that he drove his car until 1973, was not bedridden, often visited his properties in the southern part of Utah, and maintained his social contacts. [R. 295-296].

LaVerne Robertson's testimony never touched on anything other than her husband's education and the fact that she had not lived in Utah for over 35 years.

Plaintiffs' final witness, a grandson named Jeffrey Child, said his grandfather in 1971 made a vague allusion to the fact he would one day get some of the property (which in fact he would under the trust) [R. 307] and that his grandfather was perfectly alert and knew what he was doing. [R. 308].

In light of this testimony, can one possibly conclude that plaintiffs raised even a spectre of mental incompetence, fraud, or undue influence? This case is not akin to Johnson v. Johnson, supra, where the evidence disclosed that the elderly father was senile and did not know what he was doing when he gave his son a great deal of his property. 337 P.2d at 423. In contrast to the situation before the court in the Johnson case, the testimony heard by Judge Baldwin presented a picture of a man who was emphatic in wanting a distribution of his property that was not to be equal to his four children (testimony of William Vogel, R.216), that Mr. Johnson was mentally alert and competent, that the trust was fully explained to him, that he continued to execute documents respecting the trust for four years after its creation, and that during that four year period he was able to handle his affairs.

Judge Baldwin heard all of the testimony and examined all of the exhibits, not just the distorted fragments contained in plaintiffs' brief. The propriety of his decision is best

measured by attempting to answer this question: what evidence presented by plaintiffs was there for defendant to contradict?

IV. THE JUDGMENT IN THE WILL
CONTEST IS NOT DISPOSITIVE
OF THIS ACTION

Plaintiffs admit in their brief that the prior will contest and the instant case are two separate matters and were properly treated as such. The issues involved in a proceeding probating a will and one challenging the validity of a trust agreement are not at all the same. For one, a trust that might be considered to have been executed while the settlor was being unduly influenced may be subsequently ratified when the settlor regains his free will. Kazaras v. Manufacturers Trust Co., 156 N.Y.S. 2d 275, affd. 164 N.Y.S. 2d 211, affd. 175 N.Y.S. 2d 172 (N.Y. 1956); Vanderlinde v. Bankers Trust Co. of Muskegon, 259 N.W. 337 (Mich. 1935).

It is elementary that relitigation of an issue is barred only if the matter to be foreclosed was actually decided in a prior proceeding. 50 Corpus Juris Secundum, "Judgments" §172(1). While the jury in the prior action found two wills of Mariunus Johnson to have been executed while Mr. Johnson was under undue influence, that was all that was decided. The validity of the trust was not before the jury. Questions of ratification were not even addressed. There is simply no basis for holding that the prior determination is dispositive.

Furthermore, although defendant has chosen not to confuse the issues presented by plaintiffs' appeal by pursuing an appeal of the prior action, the references in plaintiffs' brief to the evidence in the will contest warrant comment. Plaintiffs assert that the testimony in the two trials was the same. Plaintiffs are not correct. For instance, in the first action Mr. Vogel testified that at the 1970 meeting Mrs. Campbell did most of the talking. Nothing further in this regard was elicited from him, and the inference certainly existed that the defendant was directing the provisions of the will and trust. That mistaken inference was dissipated in the trust trial when Mr. Vogel explained that Mrs. Campbell was only giving information as to the details of her father's properties.

A similar omission in the first trial was that Mr. Vogel was never asked whether Marinus Johnson expressed a desire to change the equal distribution under his 1969 will (which was eventually probated). In the trust action, Mr. Vogel testified that Mr. Johnson was emphatic about reducing his son's share [R. 216]. In the first trial neither of the lawyers was asked his opinion as to the competence or free will of Mr. Johnson. Their testimony in the latter trial was unequivocal.

In short, the judgment of the jury might seem at odds with Judge Baldwin's decision, but it is entirely explainable when one considers the additional evidence adduced in the trial of the

trust. And in any event the evidence of ratification makes the jury's determination in the earlier action totally irrelevant.